I.  IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 
 
 Petitioners Barney M. Yorkston, Jr. and Carollyn D. Yorkston 

(“Yorkston”) were the Appellants in the Court of Appeals and the 

Plaintiffs in the Trial Court.  However, the case was a class action 

comprising approximately 125 property owners.  CP 42-72. 

II.  CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Yorkston seek review of the January 21, 2020, published opinion 

of Division One of the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington in 

Yorkston v. Whatcom County, No. 78530-3-I, attached as Appendix A 

(“Opinion”).1  

III.  ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 1. Did the Court of Appeals take action in direct conflict with 

the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution when it interpreted 

Chapter CCXXXVI of the Code of Washington as allowing the expansion 

of a 30-foot wide road right-of-way created by way of a petition from 

affected property owners in 1878 to a 60-foot wide road right-of-way 

when it was the subject of a County Commissioner ordered 1884 survey of 

the route, without any possibility of just compensation? 

                                                 
1Citation to the Opinion will be to the copy attached as Appendix A, since the reported 
decision is not yet available.   
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 2. Did the Court of Appeals take action in direct conflict with 

other decisions of the Washington State Court of Appeals when it made its 

own independent findings of fact?   

IV.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This appeal involves determination of the proper width of a stretch 

of Birch Bay Drive located in Whatcom County that extends between 

Harborview Road and Deer Trail Road (the “ROW”).  This determination 

rests upon the proper interpretation and application of Chapter CCXXXVI 

of the Code of Washington to a survey conducted under its authority by 

Respondent Whatcom County (“County”) in 1884.2  Both the Trial 

Court’s and Court of Appeals’ erroneous interpretations of this statute 

conflict with the applicable United States Constitution’s Fifth Amendment 

prohibition against the taking of property without just compensation.  The 

Court of Appeals also made the additional error of converting the issue to 

a factual one, and then making findings of fact on its own.   

A. Summary of Underlying Facts 

The Opinion, pp. 1-4, fairly sets out the factual history of the 

ROW.  In summary, the relevant facts are as follows:  

                                                 
2 The Court of Appeals erroneously defined Yorkston’s contention as being “that a 
procedural irregularity in the 1884 county commission process culminating in its order 
designating the road meant that the 30-foot ROW of a preexisting road was retained.”  
Opinion, p. 1.  Yorkston’s contention is that the County’s 1884 survey of a previously 
created 30-foot wide road under Chapter CCXXXVI did not alter the width of the right-
of-way.   
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 1. The County created what it named “Road 22” on August 6, 

1878, based upon a Notice of Petition filed by all adjacent property 

owners.  A portion of the physical route of Road 22 includes the ROW, 

shown as the black route on Exhibit 63 and below: 

 

(“Location Map”).   

 2. The full route of Road 22 extended well beyond the ROW, 

when it “turned due north to reach Drayton Harbor and ran along the 

shoreline to the far end of the Semiahmoo Spit.”  Opinion, p. 2.   

 3. As correctly concluded by the Trial Court and Court of 

Appeals, Road 22 was established by the County with a 30-foot width:     

The County created a legal road in 1878 pursuant to the petition 
for Road 22.  Although not surveyed at the time, no survey was 
needed to create a legal road under the pertinent statutes.  
Statutes of the State of Washington, An Act In Relation to 
Roads, Ferries, Bridges, and Travel on Public Highways, § 6 

Order of Survey 
Route Road #4 6 

- - I 

i· ,_,~: 

- ·-= --~~ 
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(1869) (‘1869 Statutes’).  The established width of this road and 
associated right of way was 30 feet. 

 
CP 287, ¶ 3 (emphasis added).3  
   
 4. The County created a separate “private” 30-foot wide road 

based upon a February 14, 1876, petition from impacted property owners, 

which has commonly been referred to over the years as Road 46.  Its 

physical route is shown on the Location Map in a green shaded area and 

marked as “Road # 46 1876.”  Notably, its physical route is south of and 

does not overlap Road 22.  CP 287, ¶ 4.   

 5. After creation of both of these 30-foot wide rights-of-way, 

the County issued an Order of Survey on August 8, 1883, calling for the 

survey of a route that included Roads 22 and 46 and much more.  On 

September 18, 1883, surveyor’s notes were filed with the County, but no 

survey map prepared.  CP 282, ¶ 4.  The County then issued a notice 

disclosing that the longer route had been “resurveyed and platted, and the 

Board of County Commissioners of Whatcom County, W.T., will at its 

February term, A.D. 1884, hear and determine whether the roads herein 

described and included in said survey shall be ordained lawful county 

roads and public highways, and objections thereto or claims for damages 

must be filed in the Auditor’s office on or before the first day of said 
                                                 
3 It is critical to recognize that the Court of Appeals expressly agreed that Road 22 only 
resulted in a 30-foot wide road right-of-way:  “This road [Road 22] also occupied a 30-
foot-wide ROW for its entire length.” Opinion, p. 2. 
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February term, 1884, or the roads herein above described will be declared 

county roads and public highways.”  Ex 12, p. 1.  On February 5, 1885, 

the Commission issued a final order relating to the survey work: 

In the matter of the resurvey of portions of travelled road 
between Ferndale Ferry & Birch is ordered that the Plat and field 
notes of Portions of the said roads be received and accepted, and 
no objections having been made in writing, or otherwise to the 
legalization of said Road, it is ordered that in accordance with 
chapter CCXXXVI of the Code of Washington, said Road is 
hereby declared a legal lawful County Road and the said Plat and 
field notes are hereby ordered recorded. 

 
Ex 13, p. 16.  None of the documents in association with this work, 

including the final order by the County, specified any width of the 

surveyed route.  Opinion, pp. 3 and 4.    

B. Trial Court Disposition  

 Over the years, the County has maintained that the ROW width 

was 60 feet, while Yorkston, and others, have argued that the width is 30 

feet.  Yorkston filed claims to quiet title and for declaratory relief to 

confirm that a 30 foot width.  After a bench trial, the Trial Court ruled that 

the ROW was 60 feet wide.  It initially and correctly determined that the 

only authorized means for the County to have created a road in 1884 

required a supporting petition from affected property owners.  CP 287, ¶ 5. 

Nonetheless, the Trial Court concluded that the 1884 Order of Survey 

under Section CCXXXVI created a “new road” overlaying the 30-foot 
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wide Road 22.  It further concluded that the new road had a 60-foot width 

by default and operation of law because a statutory provision contained in 

the entirely separate act associated with the process of creating a road 

through a petition process provided as such:  “All county roads shall be 

sixty feet in width unless the county commissioners shall, upon the prayer 

of the petitioners for the same, determine on a less number of feet in 

width.”  Exhibit 51, Tab 16, p. 12, § 2979.  

C. Court of Appeals Disposition 

 The Court of Appeals agreed with the Trial Court that Section 

CCXXXVI authorized and culminated in an increase of the width of the 

ROW from 30 to 60 feet, and further found as a matter of fact (for the first 

time) that the Commissioners intended such an adjustment to the width of 

the preexisting Road 22 when they approved the survey work in 1884. 

V.  ARGUMENT 

 Appeal of the Opinion is authorized under RAP 13.3(b), and 

whether review should be accepted is subject to the following factors: 

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court 
only: 
 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
a decision of the Supreme Court; or 
 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 
a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or  
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(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of 
the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or  
 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

 
RAP 13.4(b). 

 
A. The Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That 

Should Be Considered by the Supreme Court. 
 
 Existence of public interest in the appropriate width of the ROW is 

a matter of record, including an early demand in 1983 from one impacted 

property owner that the County recognize a 30-foot width for the ROW.  

Ex 22D, p. 11.  This initial demand caused at least one local surveyor to 

recognize a 30-foot width in an associated survey.  Ex 16F, p. 11.  In 

1984, the County designed improvements for the ROW that called for 

public improvements to occupy its claimed 60-foot right-of-way.  Ex 28, 

p. 10.  This plan generated concerns and claims from property owners 

along the ROW.  In response, the County retained a local surveyor to 

evaluate the situation, who, in an October 1, 1984, report, opined that 

there was support for a conclusion that the ROW was 60 feet wide.  Ex 4, 

p. 4.  However, he ultimately recommended that the County obtain a legal 

opinion.4  The County Council did not seek a legal opinion on the ROW’s 

width, but instead merely pledged to work with property owners: 

                                                 
4 It should be noted that the local surveyor’s 1984 opinion was based upon the incorrect 
conclusion that the route of Road 46 physically overlapped and superseded Road 22 
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COLE MOVED THAT PURSUANT TO R.C.W. 36.32.120 
THAT THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY’S OFFICE IS 
INSTRUCTED NOT TO INITIATE LITIGATION ON 
BEHALF OF THE COUNTY CONCERNING THE BIRCH 
BAY DRIVE RIGHT-OF-WAY, AND FURTHER, THAT THE 
ADMINISTRATION AND LEGAL COUNSEL ARE 
ENCOURAGED TO PURSUE, TO THE EXTENT THEY 
DEEM APPROPRIATE, CLARIFICATION OF RIGHT-OF-
WAY ISSUES THROUGH MEANS OTHER THAN BY 
LAWSUIT ONCE THE COUNTY’S ROLES AND NEED FOR 
THE AREA HAVE BEEN DEFINED. 

 
Ex 22F, p. 20.   

 Citizen interest relating to the width of the right-of-way continued.  

For instance, in 1994, owners of the Clamdigger Restaurant, which is 

located along the ROW, renewed their claim that the ROW was only 30 

feet wide.  Randall Watts, the County Chief Civil Deputy Prosecuting 

Attorney, again recommended that the County Council approve instigation 

of a declaratory judgment action.  Ex 22L, p. 32.  Instead, the County 

resolved the issue by allowing the property owner to use the ROW beyond 

30 feet for parking.  Ex 26E, pp. 7-8.  Throughout, County staff expressed 

continued uncertainty as to the proper width of the ROW:   

…the County takes the position that the road width was 
established at 60 feet, although the document upon which the 
County depends for its position is silent on the issue of right-of-
way width.…While the County’s argument is based on a 
reasonable reconciliation of potential ambiguities, admittedly the 

                                                                                                                         
(which everyone now agrees was not the case); and thereby conformed to the width of 
Road 46, which was concluded to be 60 feet wide (which everyone now agrees it was a 
30-foot wide private road).   
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language establishing the location of the right-of-way in 1874 is 
not a model of clarity. 

 
Ex 26D, p. 6.   
 
 On September 17, 1997, then Maintenance and Operations 

Superintendent Richard Prieve advised Lloyd Davies, who owned 

property along the ROW, that its legal width was in dispute.  Nonetheless, 

he assured Mr. Davies that “[u]ntil this matter is settled by court action, 

which we will not pursue, we are required to honor the 30 foot right of 

way instead of a 60 foot width.”  Ex 22M, p. 33.   

 In 2007, the County advanced the “Birch Bay Shoreline 

Enhancement Phase 2A” project, which again calls for construction of 

bike lanes, sidewalks, and landscaping within a 60 foot wide area, beyond 

what has always only been a 30 foot wide road.  Ex 25.  Public interest 

will necessarily persist, given this continuing plan by the County to 

expand its use beyond the longstanding 30-foot wide road.  Public interest 

is further evidenced and will be persistent, given the sheer number of 

property owners who will be impacted by the Opinion.  This includes the 

class comprising 125 property owners along the ROW.  Moreover, it 

includes all those properties adjacent to the full length of the original 30-

foot wide Road 22, which goes well beyond the ROW.   
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 Public interest in the Opinion is also inevitable because the ruling 

could impact other rights-of-way and therefore associated property rights.  

Again, the Opinion concludes that any road right-of-way subject to survey 

or resurvey under former Chapter CCXXXVI would automatically have a 

width of 60 feet, regardless of a different width at original creation.  

Chapter CCXXXVI was adopted on November 16, 1881, and repealed in 

1929.  Ex 51, Tab 21, p. 2.  Undoubtedly, there are other road rights-of-

way that would be impacted by the Opinion, given the almost 50-year 

existence of the procedures under Chapter CCXXXVI.5     

B. The Opinion Involves a Significant Question of Law Under the  
 Constitution of the United States. 
 
 The central issue involves the proper interpretation of Chapter 

CCXXXVI.  A court must, where there are two possible interpretations, 

give effect to an interpretation of a statute, including Chapter CCXXXVI, 

that does not run afoul of the United States Constitution.  State ex. rel. 

Morgan v. Kinnear, 80 Wn.2d 400, 402, 494 P.2d 1362 (1972).  At the 

time of the pertinent actions, Washington was a territory, and therefore did 

not yet have any state constitutional takings protection.  However, as a 

territory, it was subject to the provisions of the United States Constitution, 

Dred Scott v. Sandford, 60 U.S. 393, 450, 15 L.Ed. 691 (1857), including, 
                                                 
5 The potential application of the Opinion to historical actions by other Washington 
counties may be why the Court of Appeals published the Opinion, which itself is further 
indication of public interest.   
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the Fifth Amendment’s prohibition on the taking of property without just 

compensation, which applied to the territories by and through the 

Fourteenth Amendment.  Farrington v. Tokushige, 273 U.S. 284, 299, 71 

L.Ed. 646 (1927).  Establishment of a right-of-way is a “taking” 

implicating the restrictions and protections of the Fifth Amendment.  

Sparks v. Douglas Co., 127 Wn.2d 901, 907, 904 P.2d 738 (1995). 

 Here, there are competing interpretations advanced for Chapter 

CCXXXVI.  Yorkston maintain the statute was merely a means for the 

County to have confirmed the route and location of the already established 

30-foot wide Road 22, and not a means to create a “new road” or 

otherwise expand the width from 30 to 60 feet.  Whereas, the Trial Court 

and Court of Appeals concluded that a road surveyed or resurveyed under 

Chapter CCXXXVI would be a “new road” and have a 60-foot width by 

operation of law, and in the case of the Court of Appeals, because so 

intended by the County.  Both ignored their obligation to consider this 

interpretation against the Fifth Amendment prohibition.6  When 

                                                 
6 The Court of Appeals avoided this obligation in part by rephrasing Yorkston’s 
argument as a contention that the County’s actions in creating a 60-foot right-of-way 
constituted an unconstitutional taking.  Opinion, p. 18, n. 5.  On the contrary, Yorkston 
do not object to the County’s actions in 1884.  Under a proper interpretation of Chapter 
CCXXXVI, the County’s action did not expand the already established 30-foot width.  
Yorkston instead maintain that the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of the effect of the 
County’s actions under Chapter CCXXXVI cannot be adopted because it would lead to 
an unconstitutional taking.  
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considered, the unavoidable conclusion is that the Court of Appeals’ 

interpretation conflicts with the Fifth Amendment. 

1. The Proposed Interpretation of Chapter CCXXXVI Conflicts With 
the United States Constitution. 

 
 The Court of Appeals concluded that Chapter CCXXXVI provided 

an independent process for the County to create a road right-of-way in 

1884, or, in this case, to have expanded the existing 30-foot wide road 

right-of-way to 60 feet.  Opinion, p. 14.  The Court of Appeals identified 

two reasons for this conclusion:  (1) no one objected to the County’s 

creation of a new 60-foot wide road in 1884; and (2) the language of the 

statute itself.  Id. at p. 16. 

 Although it refrained from evaluating its interpretation against the 

Fifth Amendment, the Court of Appeals did recognized that the statute’s 

interpreted allowance to expand Road 22 from 30 to 60 feet wide equated 

to the exercise of eminent domain.  Opinion, p. 18, n. 5.  Although the 

legislature had the authority to allow the County in 1884 to establish a 

road without a petition, Burns v. Multnomah R. Co., 15 F. 177, 183 (D. 

Or. 1883), in order for Chapter CCXXXVI to be interpreted as authorizing 

an expansion of the width of Road 22 (and thereby the taking of an 

additional 30 feet from impacted property owners), it must contemplate 

and result in just compensation for such expanded use.  Id. 
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 Correspondingly, the statute must provide for impacted owners to 

be provided “legal notice of the proceeding and a prescribed opportunity 

to be heard upon the question involved therein.”  Id.  The level of such 

notice that must be statutorily required for the widening of a road was the 

subject of review in Shoji v. Gleason, 420 F.Supp. 464 (D. Or. 1976).  The 

court noted in general that any notice must “reasonably convey the 

required information.”  Id. at 466.  It then concluded that the statute in 

question was constitutionally deficient because its required notice gave no 

date, time, or notice of any proceeding at which damages for the property 

taken were to be evaluated and assessed; and did not apprise a property 

owner that he/she could contest the proposed award before the decision 

maker, and thereafter seek review in state court.  Id. at 465.   

 Two Fifth Amendment deficiencies arise under the Court of 

Appeals’ interpretation of Chapter CCXXXVI.  First, rather than assure 

payment of just compensation for the taking resulting from the Court of 

Appeals’ interpretation, Chapter CCXXXVI actually prohibits the seeking 

or securement of any compensation for expansion of a preexisting road.  

Section 3045 of Chapter CCXXXVI provided:  “No claim for damages 

will be allowed to any person who did, upon the original location of said 

road, receive damages, or who, or whose grantor applied for, or assented 

to such road passing over said land, or who, when making settlement upon 
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the tract by him occupied, found the said road in public use and traveled.”  

Ex 51, Tab 16, p. 21, § 3045.     

 Thus, any landowner who previously signed the Road 22 Petition 

(which was all along the route including those within the ROW) would 

have been barred from seeking additional damages for the new and 

expanded right-of-way created by the Order of Survey process under the 

Court of Appeals’ interpretation.  Such a landowner would have been 

deprived of his/her property interest in the form of a road twice as wide as 

the one consented to in the Road 22 Petition without any possibility of 

compensation.  The Court of Appeals’ interpretation that extends the 

application of the 60-foot default width to a non-petition road created by 

the Order of Survey process therefore violates the Fifth Amendment.   

 Equally problematic, the “notice” required under Chapter 

CCXXXVI only called for notice to be placed in a newspaper in the name 

of all persons owning property along the route at least 20 days before 

action, which must advise:  (1) of the survey; (2) that the commissioners 

will hear and determine whether the road shall be ordered as a lawful road; 

and (3) that “objections thereto, or claims for damages, must be filed in 

the auditor’s office….”  Ex 51, Tab 16, p. 21, § 3043.  Nothing in the 

required notice apprises impacted property owners of any increase in the 

width of the ROW, any process to evaluate damages, or that a further 
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demand for compensation could be sought judicially.7  The called-for 

notice therefore does not comport with the level necessary to support an 

interpretation that the provision created an expanded right-of-way.  

 Therefore, the statutory provision must be interpreted in a non-

implicating manner, which would be that the Order of Survey process 

could not result in a road wider than authorized by an underlying petition.  

 The Court of Appeals attempted to avoid these constitutional 

problems by speculating that the two property owners comprising the 

ROW consented to the expansion of the width.  According to the Court of 

Appeals, this was factually established by the fact that Mr. Bruns was one 

of the acting commissioners in 1884, and Mr. Nessel did not file an 

objection. Opinion, p. 18, n. 5.  The expansion of the original Road 22 

width continued beyond just the properties of Mr. Bruns and Mr. Nessel, 

because the original Road 22 “turned due north to reach Drayton Harbor 

and ran along the shoreline to the far end of the Semiahmoo Spit.”  

Opinion, p. 2.  It also ignores that Mr. Nessel and these other property 

owners could not have objected to the action under Section 3045, since 

they or their predecessors participated in the Road 22 petition.   

 The proper interpretation of Chapter CCXXXVI has nothing to do 

with the actions of any individual property owner in this case.  The Court 
                                                 
7 Indeed, as noted above, no such notice of any right to seek compensation could have 
been required, since Section 3045 prohibited such claims. 
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of Appeals necessarily concluded that a previously created road right-of-

way could be expanded in width under Chapter CCXXXVI, while 

property owners would be expressly denied just compensation for the 

additional taking of private property and not receive proper notice.8   

2. Yorkston Advanced a Viable Alternative Interpretation That Does 
Not Conflict With the Fifth Amendment. 

 
 The viable optional interpretation of Chapter CCXXXVI, which 

would avoid constitutional conflict, is that the statute merely provided a 

procedure for the County to relocate an already created right-of-way. The 

express language of the statute supports this interpretation: 

Where by reason of the loss or destruction of the field notes of 
the original survey, or in case of defective survey or record, or in 
case of such numerous alterations of any county road since the 
original location and survey, that its location cannot be 
accurately defined by the papers on file in the proper county 
auditor’s office, or where, through some omission or defect, 
doubts may exist as to the legal establishment or evidence of 
establishment of any county road, or highway, the board of 
county commissioners of the proper county may, if they deem it 
necessary, order such highway, or any part of a county road used 
and traveled by the public, to be resurveyed, platted and recorded 
as hereinafter provided.  

 
Ex 51, Tab 16, pp. 20-21, § 3041.   

There is equally a viable interpretation of Chapter CCXXXVI that 

does not result in creation of a 60-foot wide right-of-way by operation of 

law.  There is nothing in Chapter CCXXXVI authorizing expansion of the 
                                                 
8 The conflict between this interpretation and the Fifth Amendment was pointed out to 
the Court of Appeals by Yorkston.  Brief, pp. 26-30; Reply Brief, pp. 9-10. 



17 

width of a previously established road.  In fact, the survey prepared in 

1883-84 pursuant to the Order of Survey did not set out any width of the 

surveyed road, but merely identified the route.   

Nor should either court have borrowed the default provision 

associated with roads created by way of a petition to conclude that the 

route subject to the Order of Survey was 60 feet wide.  This provision 

provided:  “All county roads shall be sixty feet in width unless the county 

commissioners shall, upon the prayer of the petitioners for the same, 

determine on a less number of feet in width.”  Id. at Tab 16, p. 12, § 2979.  

Nothing in its language extends its application to a survey conducted 

under Chapter CCXXXVI.  Moreover, the only petition relating to the 

ROW was that for Road 22, and it called for a 30-foot width.  Thus, the 

statute does not apply on its face, and its application should have been 

exempted by the express 30-foot width in the Road 22 petition.  

C. The Court of Appeals Partook in Its Own Fact Finding Which  
 Is in Conflict With Long-Established Case Law. 
 
 The Court of Appeals properly noted that its role in reviewing the 

Trial Court’s factual findings was limited to “determining whether the trial 

court’s factual findings are supported by substantial evidence and whether 

those findings support the trial court’s conclusions of law.”  Opinion, p. 16 

(citing Standing Rock Homeowners Ass’n v. Misich, 106 Wn.App. 231, 
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242-43, 23 P.3d 520 (2001)).  This role means that the Court of Appeals 

cannot weigh the evidence, evaluate conflicting evidence, and make its 

own findings of fact.  Matter of Estate of Langeland v. Drown, 195 

Wn.App. 74, 82, 380 P.3d 573 (2016); Prostov v. State, Dept. of 

Licensing, 186 Wn.App. 795, 820, 349 P.3d 874 (2015); Marcum v. Dept. 

of Social and Health Services, 172 Wn.App. 546, 560, 290 P.3d 1045 

(2012).  Whether explicitly recognized or implicitly done, the weighing of 

evidence and making of findings by any appellate court would be in 

conflict with this long-recognized prohibition. 

 The Court of Appeals in this case attempted to justify its decision 

as to the 60-foot width by reviewing what it claimed was the Trial Court’s 

alleged finding of fact that the County Commissioners intended to create a 

60-foot wide right-of-way through the Order of Survey process:  “Having 

elucidated the extent of the Commission’s power and the effect of its 

actions, in light of the trial record and the then-material statutes, we turn 

now to the Commission’s order itself to determine whether the evidence 

before the trial court supports the conclusion that the County’s act created 

a road with a ROW 60 feet wide.”  Opinion, p. 16.  The Court of Appeals 

concluded that the Commissioners had just such an intent, based in part on 

the continued conjecture about what Mr. Bruns wanted to do, and the 

opinions of current County staff and a local surveyor.  Most egregious the 
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Court of Appeals rested much of its conclusion that the Commissioners 

intended to create a 60-foot wide right-of-way based upon the lack of any 

objection by impacted property owners to the 1884 action.  As noted

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