FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/12/2020 2:24 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98183-3

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

**BARNEY & CAROLLYN YORKSTON, Petitioners,** 

v.

WHATCOM COUNTY, Respondents

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC J. RICHEY,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By GEORGE ROCHE
Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondents
WSBA #45698
311 Grand Avenue, Suite 201
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360)778.5710
groche@co.whatcom.wa.us

##

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

# D. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

1. This Petition does not involve a matter of substantial public interest requiring review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) the Court may exercise its discretion to take up moot cases when there exists matters of substantial public interest that merits the Court's consideration. See Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wash. 2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512, 518 (1972), citing, State ex rel.

Yakima Amusement Co. v. Yakima County, 192 Wash. 179, 73 P.2d 759 (1937); National Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Seattle School Dist. 1, 66

Wash.2d 14, 400 P.2d 778 (1965); Grays Harbor Paper Co. v. Grays

Harbor County, 74 Wash.2d 70, 442 P.2d 967 (1968). The Court has traditionally looked at three important factors to take measure of the public interest at issue: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. Sorenson, 80 Wash. 2d at 558.

Here, the Petitioner asserts that this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision because the County's adopted beach reconstruction plans along Birch Bay allegedly affect the property rights of over one hundred land owners in the Birch Bay area, and could further affect an unknown number of other roads created in the 1800s.

The County asserts that the adopted beach reconstruction plans along Birch Bay involve entirely different matters of public interest, namely: environmental restoration of shoreline habitat, the protection of vehicular and pedestrian travel along publicly available roads, walkways and tidelands, and flood mitigation.<sup>2</sup> This municipal legislative action was only taken after a period of significant public comment, and was not factually relevant to declaratory judgment action heard by either the trial court, or the Court of Appeals.<sup>3</sup>

The Petitioners' assertions do not present matters of substantial public interest. At its essence this action for declaratory judgment presented private property matters shared by a small class of property owners near the area of Birch Bay. These property issues are not shared by the public as a whole, but are limited in their scope to the relatively small Plaintiff class of property owners. These unique real property issues are

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The County's Public Works Department has a significant description of the Birch Bay shoreline project available online at:

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/2560/Birch-Bay-Dr-Project-Summary

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/2561/Project-Goals

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/2562/DesignPlans

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/2563/PermitsStudies

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/2565/MeetingsPresentations

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/2566/History-of-Beach-Reconstruction

http://www.co.whatcom.wa.us/3109/Archived-Project-Updates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The relevance of the Birch Bay Shoreline Project is that it provided Petitioners with motive to bring the underlying action for declaratory judgement.

unlikely to present themselves in other settings due to the highly unique factual narrative that was presented at trial. The applicable laws at issue in this particular case were the Washington Territorial laws of the 1800s.

Due to the substantial evolution of real property laws in Washington State an authoritative decision meant to guide public officials is unnecessary.

Therefore, Petitioners have failed to present a matter of substantial public interest and review on this issue should be denied.

# 2. The statute of limitations for a takings claim in this case expired in 1894.

The Petitioner asserts that this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision to redress an unconstitutional taking of private property by the government. It should be noted that a cause of action based on unconstitutional taking, or eminent domain, was never plead. However, the concept of a taking has been vocalized at every stage of the proceedings. As the Court of Appeals stated in their opinion:

We next address what, precisely, is at issue between the parties. Yorkston does not seek to invalidate the 19th century Commission order designating the road or to pursue a takings claim that, if asserted, would be well past stale. Instead, Yorkston brought the present action seeking declaratory judgement.

Petition for Review, Appendix A pg. 10 (Hereinafter, Appendix A). RCW 4.16.020 establishes a ten year statute of limitations for the recovery of

real property. See also <u>Aylmore v. City of Seattle</u>, 100 Wash. 515, 517–19, 171 P. 659, 660 (1918).

Here, a taking claim was not litigated due to the futility of raising such an issue. If a taking were to have occurred, the governmental action at issue would have been the order of the Whatcom County

Commissioners entered on February 5, 1884 stating:

In the matter of the resurvey of portions of the travelled road between Ferndale Ferry & Birch [Bay] is ordered that the Plat and Field Notes of the Portions of the said roads be received and accepted, and no objections having been made in writing, or otherwise to the legalization of said Road, it is ordered that in accordance with chapter CCXXXVI of the Code of Washington, said Road is hereby declared a legal lawful County Road and the said Plat and Filed notes are hereby ordered recorded.

Appendix A at pg. 4. Prior to the issuance of this order a notice was published in the local newspaper *Reveille*, which put the affected landowners on notice of Whatcom County's intent to take this legislative action.<sup>4</sup> In the February 5, 1884 Order the County Commissioners outlined the absence of objections to the creation of the road. Between February 5, 1884 and February 5, 1894 no taking cases were brought in relation to the roadways at issue here. Currently a taking claim would be time barred.

Petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The record demonstrated that one landowner in particular was closely related to both the 1877 petition for Road 22 and the February 5, 1884 order establishing the Ferndale Ferry to Birch Bay Road. As both a Whatcom County Commissioner, and an affected landowner, B.H. Bruns was uniquely situated to prevent the alleged taking at issue in this

Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not permit a taking of private property in violation of the United States Constitution, and review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) is not warranted.

# 3. The Court of Appeals did not engage in an independent fact finding in violation of RAP 13.4(b)(2).

When a trial court has weighed the evidence the appellate court will limit its review of the evidence to determine if the trial court's findings were supported by substantial evidence, and whether the conclusions of law were supported by the findings. Prostov v. State, Dep't of Licensing, 186 Wash. App. 795, 819, 349 P.3d 874, 886 (2015). See also Buck Mountain Owner's Ass'n v. Prestwich, 174 Wash. App. 702, 713, 308 P.3d 644, 650 (2013) (as applied to actions for declaratory judgment involving real property). Substantial evidence has been defined as "evidence sufficient to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the finding's truth." Prostov, 186 Wash. App. at 819-20, citing, Maplewood Estate, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 104 Wash.App. 299, 304, 17 P.3d 621 (2000). The appellate court will review the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. Prostov, 186 Wash. App. at 820. The appellate court will defer to the trial court's determinations of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. <u>Prostov</u>, 186 Wash. App. at 820. The appellate court will not weigh and evaluate conflicting evidence. Id. at 820.

Here, the Court of Appeals determined that the trial court's findings were supported by substantial evidence, and the trial court's conclusions of law were supported by the findings. See *Appendix A* at pgs. 12-21. The Court of Appeals engaged in a lengthy recitation of the facts presented at trial in their opinion. *Id.* at 1-8. At the Court of Appeals the Petitioner argued that the trial court engaged in a fact-finding of its own that was unsupported by the record.<sup>5</sup> However, the record at trial contained a wealth of documentary evidence assembled from 1884 up to the date of trial. The Court of Appeals viewed that evidence in the light most favorable to the Respondents while evaluating the trial court's findings and conclusions. *Id.* at pg. 16. The Court of Appeals discussed B.H. Bruns as both a landowner and County Commissioner. *Id.* at pgs. 17-18. The Court of Appeals discussed the notice to landowners and the lack of objections noted in the historical record. *Appendix A* at 19. The Court of Appeals discussed the details of the survey of the Ferndale Ferry to Birch Bay Road in light of the survey notes included in the trial record. *Id.* at 19-

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Petitioner failed to transcribe any of trial court's proceedings, and only submitted a portion of the documentary evidence submitted at trial, but the Court of Appeals elected to use the complete record provided by the Respondent to decide the case on the merits. See *Petition for Review*, Appendix A at pgs. 9-10.

20. The Court of Appeals discussed findings related to powers of county commissioners to re-survey roads pursuant to Chapter CCXXXVI of the laws of Washington Territory. *Id.* at 19-20. The Court of Appeals discussed the testimony of three of the four surveyors<sup>6</sup> heard at trial. *Id.* at 19-20. The Court of Appeals discussed the trial court's oral decision, and its consistency with the trial court's written findings. *Id.* at 21. The Court of Appeals did not engage in its own fact-finding as argued by the Petitioner. Instead the Court of Appeals reviewed the lengthy factual record, and found that a rational and fair minded person could find that trial court's findings were based on the wealth of evidence that was presented at the trial.

Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not participate in its own fact-finding, and there is not a basis to grant this Petition under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

#### E. CONCLUSION

None of the issues identified by the Petitioners in their petition for review meet the standards- under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court's acceptance

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> One surveyor testified on behalf of the Petitioner at trial, and three surveyors testified in support of the Respondent at trial.

of review. The Respondent respectfully requests that the Petition for Review be denied.